



Contents

Introduction	3
Overview of Child Maltreatment and the Child Welfare System	95
The Role of Primary Care	6
The Role of Medicaid	7
Practice-Level Approaches to Prevent Child Welfare System Involvement	8
Opportunities for Pediatric Primary Care to Prevent Child Welfare System Involvement	9
Strategies to Expand Primary Care Practice Capacity to Better Meet Family Needs	12
Team-Based Care Models	12
Training	13
Tools to Enhance Capacity	14
Medicaid Policy Recommendations to Support Primary Care Practices in Preventing Child Welfare System Involvement	16
Recommendation 1: Implement payment approaches that support comprehensive, equitable, family-centered care	16
Recommendation 2: Leverage managed care contracts to prioritize primary care quality improvement for children.	19
Recommendation 3: Support primary care capacity and workforce development	20
Recommendation 4: Collaborate with child welfare, behavioral health, and other	
state agencies to align services, policy, and financing	
Conclusion	23
Appendix. Interviewee and Small Group Convening Participants	24

ABOUT THE CENTER FOR HEALTH CARE STRATEGIES

The Center for Health Care Strategies (CHCS) is a policy design and implementation partner devoted to improving outcomes for people enrolled in Medicaid. We support partners across sectors and disciplines to make more effective, efficient, and equitable care possible for millions of people across the nation. For more information, visit **www.chcs.org**.

KEY TAKEAWAYS

- Due to bias and systemic racism, families of color are disproportionately reported to child protective services, and Black children are overrepresented in foster care.
- Primary care practices can help prevent unnecessary child welfare system involvement by holistically supporting child and family health and well-being and reducing unwarranted reporting.
- Team-based care models as well as education to expand providers' knowledge and expertise
 in behavioral health, relational health, health-related social needs, and implicit bias can
 strengthen primary care practices' capacity to advance child and family well-being and achieve
 more equitable care.
- State Medicaid agencies can support primary care practices in building capacity to prevent child welfare system involvement through enhanced payment approaches, managed care contract requirements, workforce development efforts, and collaborations with child- and family-serving agencies and community partners.

Introduction

ederal legislation, including the Family First Prevention Services Act of 2018, created pathways for child welfare agencies to offer essential services that are critical to keeping families together and preventing foster care placement, including: mental health services; substance use prevention and treatment; in-home parenting programs; and kinship navigator services.^{1,2} The rate of children entering foster care continues to decline as jurisdictions ramp up efforts to deliver services aimed at preventing foster care placement. Still, 187,000 children entered foster care, and a total of 369,000 children were living in foster care in 2022.³ Families of color continue to be disproportionately reported to child protective services (CPS), and Black children are overrepresented in foster care.^{4,5,6} The large number of children involved in the child welfare system and inequities in child welfare involvement reflect a lack of systems and policies to support families, as well as the impact of systemic racism.^{7,8}

Any organization that interacts with a child — from schools to health care providers — can help families get the services they need. Primary care providers (PCPs) can play a particularly significant role in ensuring that families are referred to community resources to improve health and well-being. PCPs can also take steps to mitigate bias to prevent inappropriate reporting to CPS. Through Medicaid's Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment (EPSDT) benefit, state Medicaid agencies are well-positioned to support pediatric PCPs in providing comprehensive, equitable, and family-centered care, including addressing behavioral health and health-related social needs (HRSNs), through policy and payment incentives.

With support from the Conrad N. Hilton Foundation, this report: (1) explores the role of primary care in preventing families' involvement with the child welfare system; (2) identifies practice-level challenges and approaches for implementing effective interventions; and (3) provides recommendations for how Medicaid programs can help address practice-level challenges and support primary care delivery reforms to mitigate child welfare involvement. Findings are based on a literature review, key informant interviews, and a group convening that included providers, researchers, and Medicaid, child welfare, and health equity experts (see **Appendix**). The recommendations align with recent Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) guidance on strategies and best practices to ensure children's access to the EPSDT benefit.9

At-a-Glance: Primary Care and Medicaid Strategies to Prevent Child Welfare Involvement

Primary care, with supports from Medicaid, can help prevent child welfare involvement by: (1) addressing risk factors for child welfare involvement, such as social and behavioral health needs; and (2) reducing bias and unwarranted reporting to CPS.

<u>Practice-Level Approaches to Prevent Child Welfare System Involvement</u>

Opportunities for Pediatric Primary Care to Prevent Child Welfare System Involvement



Strategies to Expand Primary Care Practice Capacity to Better Meet



- ✓ Integrate medical, behavioral health, and social services
- ✓ Emphasize relational health, dyadic care approaches, and child and family developmental supports
- ✓ Adopt policies to advance equity and anti-racism practices
- ✓ Engage families to provide accessible, family-centered care

Family Needs

- ✓ Adopt team-based care models
- Implement trainings, such as on addressing health-related social needs and anti-racist approaches to care
- Use new tools to enhance capacity and support family-centered care

Medicaid Policy Recommendations to Support Primary Care Practices in Preventing Child Welfare System Involvement



1. Implement payment approaches that support comprehensive, equitable, family-centered care;



2. Leverage managed care contracts to prioritize primary care quality improvement for children;



3. Support primary care capacity and workforce development; and



4. Collaborate with child welfare, behavioral health, and other state agencies to align services, policy, and financing.

Overview of Child Maltreatment and the Child Welfare System

The child welfare system includes entities at the federal, state, and local level. ¹⁰ Specific state and local definitions of child abuse and neglect vary widely, as do families' experiences with the child welfare system. When child maltreatment is suspected, any individual can make a report through their state or region's child abuse and neglect hotline. ¹¹ The child welfare agency will investigate the suspected maltreatment, conduct a safety and risk assessment, and determine the need for ongoing child welfare involvement. The investigation can result in a court petition to remove a child from their home and place them in out-of-home care with relatives or in foster care.

Reports are most commonly made by "mandatory reporters," individuals who are legally required to report suspected child maltreatment. Mandatory reporting laws vary by state but common examples of mandatory reporters include social workers, teachers, and health care providers. Most states issue penalties when mandated reporters fail to make a report, which incentivizes overreporting. Mandated reporters may also report to child welfare when they are not able to identify a community resource that can meet the families' needs, leading to the inappropriate involvement of the child welfare system when there is no underlying concern of maltreatment. This inflated reporting overburdens the child welfare system with families it should not be investigating, limiting the resources available for cases that warrant their involvement. Child welfare involvement contributes to trauma for the family, with potential long-term impact on well-being.

Child maltreatment includes abuse and neglect. The majority of foster care placements are precipitated by reports of neglect rather than abuse. ¹⁷ Neglect is typically defined as the "failure to provide adequate food, clothing, shelter, or care." ^{18,19} Poverty is often conflated with neglect and accounts for a large proportion of reported cases of neglect. ²⁰ While some states have revised their definition of neglect to mitigate the association between neglect and poverty, there is variability across states in how the definition is interpreted and applied in the child welfare system. ²¹ In new guidance, The White House is encouraging states to revise their definitions of child neglect under the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act to ensure that failing to provide adequate housing, child care, or other material needs is not classified as neglect if the family lacks the financial resources to meet these needs. ²² The second most common factor associated with a child being removed from their home is parental substance use. ²³ Families with parental substance use are more likely to experience inadequate housing and parental incarceration as co-occurring factors for their children's removal. ²⁴

Disparities in child welfare involvement exist across multiple demographic measures and are driven by co-existing factors. One cause is discrimination and systemic racism having led to disproportionate poverty rates among families of color — particularly Black families — by limiting access, opportunities, and support within and across systems, including employment, housing, and health care. Similarly, stigma, criminalization, and treatment barriers related to substance use disorder disproportionately impact Black and Indigenous families, which may contribute to their overrepresentation in the child welfare system. Families in which parents have disabilities and adolescents who identify as LGBTQ+ are also overrepresented in the child welfare system. While this report focuses on pediatric primary care, approaches are also needed within adult health care and other systems to comprehensively address families' needs and reduce discriminatory and biased practices.

The Role of Primary Care

Because primary care — and especially pediatrics — is largely focused on prevention and is often the main point of contact between families and the health care system, pediatric and family care providers can play an important role in preventing child welfare system involvement. Because much of pediatric primary care is aimed at supporting healthy child development by providing comprehensive and family-centered care, primary care providers can help identify and address risk factors for child welfare involvement (for more on risk factors, see **Exhibit 1**, page 8). The current primary care system, however, is often limited in its capacity to meet the unique needs of children and their families due to factors such as financial constraints, limited staff capacity, and lack of training to support comprehensive, equitable models of care. These limitations may lead to an inadequate use of preventive services, as well as services that support early relational health (see *Early Relational Health* sidebar on next page) and address behavioral health and social needs, which are common risk factors for child welfare system involvement. As a service of the common risk factors for child welfare system involvement.

Additionally, as feasible within state mandated reporting requirements, primary care practices can also implement approaches that limit inappropriate and unwarranted reporting to child abuse and neglect hotlines.^{33,34} Since health care providers have been found to disproportionately report Black families to child welfare, strategies to reduce bias are critical to this effort.³⁵

It is also important to recognize that primary care alone cannot address the needs of the family. To make the most impact, primary care interventions need to be implemented alongside other policy changes within and outside the health system to adequately address family needs and reduce harms caused by inappropriate involvement with the child welfare system.

Early Relational Health

"Relational health" or "early relational health" is defined as "the role of early relationships and experiences in healthy development across a child's lifetime" with safe, stable, and nurturing relationships (SSNR) enabling healthy child development. Farticularly for young children, early relational health emphasizes positive relationships between children and their caregivers. SSNRs mitigate childhood toxic stress, which can result from adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). Given the association between ACEs and child maltreatment, promoting relational health and SSNRs is critical to preventing child welfare system involvement. In this context, focusing on early relational health is particularly important since most child maltreatment reports involve families with young children, especially infants.

The Role of Medicaid

Medicaid policy can support pediatric primary care in addressing barriers to child and family health and well-being. Covering over 40 percent of all children across the nation, including nearly 50 percent of children with special health care needs and over half of Black, Latino, and Indigenous children, Medicaid has a significant opportunity to better meet their needs. 40, 41, 42 This widespread coverage enables state Medicaid agencies to support primary care practices in advancing child and family well-being, promoting health equity, and preventing child welfare system involvement. Medicaid can achieve these goals by implementing payment approaches for comprehensive, equitable, family-centered care; revisiting managed care contract deliverables; developing and training the workforce; and collaborating with child-serving systems and community partners.

The Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment (EPSDT) benefit ensures robust health coverage for children and requires state Medicaid agencies to cover all preventive and medically necessary services for children to "correct and ameliorate health conditions." This may include parental counseling and connection to community-based resources, among other services related to preventing child welfare system involvement. However, states have different definitions of what counts as medically necessary. Moreover, just because a service is covered through EPSDT, does not necessarily mean that it is easily accessible to families or delivered in a family-centered, coordinated way. For example, 2020 data shows that across states, a median of only 36 percent of children received developmental screening by age three. In September 2024, CMS released guidance offering examples of best practices that meet the EPSDT requirement, reflecting some of the models highlighted in this report. The CMS guidance frames EPSDT best practices around the following areas: promoting EPSDT awareness and accessibility, expanding and using child-focused (EPSDT) workforce, and improving care for EPSDT-eligible children with specialized needs.

Practice-Level Approaches to Prevent Child Welfare System Involvement

here are a variety of child- and family-level risk and protective factors related to child maltreatment (see **Exhibit 1**). PCPs can play a crucial role in identifying and addressing some factors by comprehensively assessing families' behavioral, social, and relational health risks and needs, and by connecting them to appropriate supports, especially during routine well-child visits. Additionally, primary care practices can implement policies and practices to reduce inappropriate reporting to CPS, as described later in this report.

Exhibit 1. Risk and Protective Factors Related to Child Maltreatment

As illustrated in the below table, studies have identified a range of risk and protective factors related to child maltreatment. These factors may be present at the individual/child, family, community, or societal levels. It is important to recognize that, because of biases that may lead to unwarranted identification and reporting of child maltreatment — such as racism, stigmatization of substance use disorder, and inappropriately conflating poverty and neglect — these factors may also contain and perpetuate biases. So,51 Assessment of risk has also been unfairly applied within the child welfare system. For example, studies have found that Black children are removed from their homes at a higher rate than white children, but among children who have been removed from their homes, Black families have lower average risk scores than white families.

Risk factors that primary care providers are particularly well-positioned to help address through screening and assessment, intervention, and connections to community-based services include unmet HRSN (e.g., housing and food insecurity), behavioral health needs, caregiver substance use, and relational health risks (e.g., adverse childhood experiences). 53,54,55

Level	Risk Factors	Protective Factors
Child	 Infancy and young age⁵⁶ Special health care needs Behavioral health needs⁵⁷ 	Self-regulation skillsSocial and emotional capacityAdaptive functioning
Caregiver and family	Parental behavioral health needsPoverty and material hardshipIntimate partner violence	 Parental resilience⁵⁸ Social networks Supportive relationships
Community	Neighborhood crime and violenceConcentrated poverty rates	Service and resource availabilityCommunity cohesion
Societal	Regressive economic policiesGender inequalitySystemic racism	Policies that increase household income and reduce child-related expenses (e.g., paid family and parental leave, earned income tax credit, among others)

Opportunities for Pediatric Primary Care to Prevent Child Welfare System Involvement

Leveraging primary care to help prevent child welfare involvement requires transforming pediatric practice to address family needs and advance health equity. Widely recognized guidance on different types of interventions is available to primary care practices. For example, Bright Futures, led by the American Academy of Pediatrics with support from the Health Resources Services Administration, offers age-specific guidance on the opportunities for PCPs to advance child and family health and well-being, including family support, mental health, and healthy development. For the Bright Futures periodicity schedule, which aligns with Medicaid's EPSDT benefit, consists of comprehensive, age-based guidance for each well-child visit and recommends screenings and assessments, many of which focus on caregiver and family health, behavioral health, and HRSN. Additionally, there are various other frameworks and recommendations that offer opportunities for improving care quality and equity within pediatric primary care. 60,61,62,63,64,65

While there is some existing evidence regarding which primary care interventions are effective at reducing child welfare system involvement (see **Exhibit 2**, page 11), more research is needed, including studies on how to implement primary care quality improvement initiatives that advance equity.

Based on available evidence and best practices within health and social service systems, following are promising pediatric primary care approaches that can: (1) address risk factors for child welfare involvement; and (2) support implementation of equity-focused practices to reduce bias and unwarranted reporting to the child abuse and neglect hotline:

• Integrate medical, behavioral health, and social services. Primary care practices can implement strategies to identify and address families' behavioral health and HRSN needs, both of which are risk factors for maltreatment. 66 Addressing behavioral health and HRSN may also help reduce the disproportionate barriers that Black, Indigenous, and other families face in accessing behavioral health services and social supports, as well as mitigate the disparate impact of poverty on families of color. 67,68 Activities may include screening children and their families to identify behavioral health needs and HRSN, and referring them to community-based services. Successful integration often requires strengthening partnerships between primary care practices, behavioral health specialists, and community-based organizations. Providers may also implement interventions directly within primary care settings to address families' needs. For example, primary care practices can provide co-located behavioral health services or include behavioral

health providers on care teams to help address families' needs during visits. ⁶⁹ Outside of pediatrics, integrating parental substance use disorder services into primary care practices, particularly for pregnant women, is deserving of special consideration as it may prompt child welfare system involvement because of specific mandatory reporting requirements.

- Emphasize relational health, dyadic care approaches, and child and family developmental supports. Primary care practices can support early relational health by using a dyadic care approach that considers the health and well-being of the child and their caregiver. This includes implementing relational, family-focused interventions that support safe, stable, and nurturing relationships, social-emotional development, caregiver mental health, and family functioning (as just one example, see the description of HealthySteps in Exhibit 2, page 11). Additionally, primary care practices can use a strengths-based approach, which focuses on an individual or family's personal, social, and emotional assets. This approach can support families in building protective factors, which help to prevent child welfare system involvement while addressing their priorities and needs.
- Adopt policies to advance equity and anti-racism practices. Recognizing the impact of individual, interpersonal, and systemic racism on families is critical. 77,78 Collecting and analyzing practice-level data to identify disparities, implementing anti-racist policies, and integrating relevant approaches for people with disabilities and individuals who identify as LGBTQ+ can help promote more equitable care. Examples of practice-level strategies to advance equity include implementing culturally and linguistically effective practices; ensuring the availability of interpretation services for non-English speakers; and recruiting primary care staff who share common racial and cultural backgrounds as the families they serve. 79,80 In order to reduce bias in reporting to the child abuse and neglect hotline, primary care practices can also train staff to strengthen their awareness of inequities in health care and the child welfare system, including the impact of reporting families to CPS.
- Engage families to provide accessible, family-centered care. Meaningful family engagement includes authentic partnerships between families, PCPs, and other care team members that are reciprocal and ongoing. This may require developing new ways to engage and gain input from families to inform practice policies and programs, such as through family advisory councils, focus groups, or listening sessions. It is also important for practices to implement processes and work toward a culture focused on building trust and better engaging families during visits. For example, PCPs should respect the expertise of family members regarding their child and communicate with them openly and transparently. This includes sharing accurate and comprehensive medical information, and working with families and

caregivers as equal partners in making decisions for their child's medical care. 82,83,84 Given the time constraints often faced in the health care setting, PCPs are unlikely to effectively engage families without adopting intentional family-centered strategies to support critical relationship-building. These strategies can help families communicate openly and support children in receiving the care they need — including more effectively meeting their needs. 85,86 Strong partnerships with families can also help PCPs build trust and advocate for families that are involved with the child welfare system. 87,88,89

See **Exhibit 2** for examples of interventions and care models that aim to provide more family-centered and comprehensive primary care that may help reduce the need for child welfare intervention.

Exhibit 2. Examples of Care Models That Address Risk Factors Related to Child Maltreatment in Primary Care Settings

- **HealthySteps:** This model, developed by ZERO TO THREE, provides early childhood development supports for families with children ages 0-3 by embedding HealthySteps specialists in primary care settings to support screening and referral through comprehensive and integrated care visits. HealthySteps specialists also support early relational and social health by building strong relationships with families and providers, and offering expertise on child development and behavioral health prevention. HealthySteps, which aligns with Bright Futures Guidelines, has been shown to improve a range of outcomes, including increased screening and connection to services, social-emotional development, and family and provider satisfaction, while reducing maternal depression and addressing risk factors for child abuse and neglect, including harsh punishment, severe discipline, and behavioral needs.⁹⁰
- **Developmental Understanding and Legal Collaboration for Everyone (DULCE):** This model integrates community health workers (CHWs) into primary care settings to support families with newborns during their first six months of life. ⁹¹ This model aims to address HRSN and promote protective factors to improve child development and reduce child maltreatment. ⁹² CHWs engage families and connect them to services based on their needs and priorities, including those that address HRSN and promote healthy child and family development through parenting skills and positive parent-infant relationships. ⁹³ Through this model, local medical-legal partnerships provide training and resources to CHWs to increase their capacity to support families' needs. ⁹⁴

Strategies to Expand Primary Care Practice Capacity to Better Meet Family Needs

Primary care practices, payers, and policymakers may consider how to implement team-based care, provide adequate training for staff in primary care settings to adopt new care approaches, and use new tools and processes to support efficient and high-quality, equitable care. While some primary care practices may be able to implement one or more strategies within their current environment, many practices require resources to support pediatric primary care system improvement efforts. As described in the policy recommendations below, Medicaid can provide enhanced investment and incentives to help primary care practices overcome existing barriers and build practice capacity to achieve more comprehensive, equitable care.

Team-Based Care Models

Challenges to providing comprehensive care, such as inadequate staffing and time constraints, often result from financing barriers that persist in primary care. For example, well-child visits are often limited to 20 minutes, making it difficult to screen for and address families' behavioral health and HRSN. Additionally, when pediatric providers are unable to meet families' needs through referrals due to a scarcity of community services and/or a lack of awareness of these services, they may be more likely to report families to the child abuse and neglect hotline to connect them to services, even in the absence of a maltreatment concern. Working as a multi-disciplinary team can increase PCP staff capacity and expertise, allowing the expanded care team to spend additional time with families to build trust and credibility, identify risk factors associated with child maltreatment, and possibly lessen the likelihood of PCPs referring families to child welfare in a misguided effort to connect them to services.

Expanding the pediatric primary care team to include patient navigators, peer support professionals, and CHWs — whether in the PCP clinic or connecting the clinic to organizations in the community — is an evidence-based approach to build PCP capacity to better serve children and their families. Parameters An expanded care team can support more holistic care, improve family engagement and support, and address a broad range of families' needs through care coordination, screening and assessment, health literacy support, and other functions. Pacause they often share common background or are part of the communities they serve, including CHWs and peers in care teams can also increase cultural competence and humility, which may decrease bias and ultimately reduce reporting to the child abuse and neglect hotline. As described in **Exhibit 2** (page 11), HealthySteps and DULCE integrate specialists into primary care settings to support child and family health and development, provide screening and referral services, and address early relational health and HRSN. HealthySteps has been shown

to reduce risk factors associated with maltreatment, such as harsh punishment and severe discipline, and improve relational health.¹⁰¹ One of the primary goals of DULCE is to reduce child maltreatment by meeting families' HRSN.¹⁰²

Training

To adequately address risk factors for child welfare system involvement, primary care staff need a variety of skills and competencies related to HRSN screening and assessment, early relational health, and behavioral health. They also need communitybased services, resources, and referral systems available to address behavioral health and HRSN. Yet, staff may lack resources and capacity in these areas. For example, in one study, while over 60 percent of pediatricians agreed that screening for HRSN is important, less than 40 percent reported that it is feasible or that they feel prepared to do so. 103 Providers and other primary care staff may feel unprepared given that HRSN screenings sometimes identify highly sensitive, stigmatized, private, and risky topics, such as financial hardship and social circumstances. 104 Without adequate training, screenings may be perceived by families as insensitive and judgmental, and can potentially re-traumatize or further marginalize an individual or family. 105 Primary care staff may also feel unprepared to provide referrals to community resources and treatment options due to their lack of knowledge and time, and/or the limited availability of services in the community, which can result in insufficient treatment and referrals for families. 106,107

Training can help mitigate these barriers. For example, the SEEK Model, described in **Exhibit 3** (page 15), provides training to PCPs to address psychosocial risk factors associated with child maltreatment. Training can also be beneficial to effectively incorporate new staff, such as CHWs and peers, into primary care teams. Training can include topics like racial bias; cultural effectiveness and humility; systemic racism; the disproportionate impact on families of color in the child welfare system; and equity. Trainings that incorporate anti-racist policies and practices may help mitigate overreporting based on race, ethnicity, disability, substance use, and Medicaid eligibility. Additional training is also needed to improve primary care staff's understanding of child maltreatment, the child welfare system, mandatory reporting requirements, and guidelines to support non-discriminatory and objective decision-making. ¹⁰⁹

Tools to Enhance Capacity

Children and their families often face structural and administrative barriers to accessing comprehensive care. For example, families have expressed frustration for not having enough time during a visit to communicate their social needs to pediatricians. To improve primary care practices' capacity, new tools — often using technology — and processes are needed to support family-centered screening approaches, track referrals, and improve coordination between health and social systems and community-based services.

There are a variety of tools that can improve efficiency and enhance capacity of primary care practices, particularly for well-child visits. One type of tool supports pre-visit planning, often as an online platform that primary care practices use to gather information from families, including their responses to screening questions, prior to (or during) their primary care appointment. For example, primary care practices can use the Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative's Cycle of Engagement Well-Visit Planner (WVP), described in **Exhibit 3** (next page), to engage families with children ages 0-6. Families enter information into the WVP prior to a well-child visit and receive a personalized guide, and providers receive a clinical summary to inform the visit. Families have reported that this tool supports family-centered care. The WVP and similar tools such as those described above may also provide resources directly to families based on their responses, and track referrals to better enable families to receive needed services.

Similarly, primary care practices can use community-based resource directories and referral platforms to direct families to available services that help address their HRSN, behavioral health, and relational health needs. ¹¹⁴ Other tools, such as care planning templates, can help streamline workflows by guiding primary care practices and families in identifying and summarizing key information to support their child's care. ¹¹⁵ Additionally, one promising new approach is implementing information exchanges between primary care practices and other child- and family-serving organizations, which can facilitate the coordination of care across systems. For example, San Diego County created a community information exchange that is used by a multidisciplinary network of partners as a shared resource database and integrated technology platform to deliver community care planning. ¹¹⁶

Primary care practices can also conduct organizational assessments to identify bias within their current policies and practices. There are a variety of tools and models that can guide this assessment. Primary care practices can focus on assessing mandated reporting policies and practices, which may help reduce unwarranted reports to child abuse and neglect hotlines.

Exhibit 3. Examples of Tools That Address Risk Factors Related to Child Maltreatment in Primary Care Settings

- **Safe Environment for Every Kid (SEEK):** The SEEK model includes training for PCPs to address risk factors associated with child maltreatment, a screening tool to identify psychosocial problems, and guidelines to address positive screens. The screening aims to identify risk factors in the domains of home safety, child behavior, parental well-being, and food insecurity. 119,120
- Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative's (CAHMI) Cycle of Engagement (COE) Model: CAHMI's COE was created to advance partnerships between providers, families, and communities, promote child- and family-centered care, and provide resources to support care teams in using data. 121 This includes:
 - → Well Visit Planner (WVP) is a digital tool that engages families before and/or during well-child visits to build trust and ensure personalized, strengths-based care that operationalizes Bright Futures Guidelines. PCPs can use this evidence-based tool to optimize time with families, provide comprehensive screening, and address their health-related social and medical needs and relational health risks. ¹²² Once a family adds their information to the tool, their PCP and they automatically receive a personalized report and visit guides with resources to address child and family needs.
 - → **Personalized Connected Encounter** is an approach to the well-child visit using the guides for families and providers resulting from the WVP.¹²³ Using these guides allows providers to focus on families' priorities and needs.
 - → **Promoting Healthy Development Survey** is a validated measure that assesses the quality of care for families with children ages three months to six years. ¹²⁴ Primary care practices and health plans can invite families to complete the survey, and families can anonymously complete the survey to report on the quality of their well-child care. This tool gives aggregate results to providers to inform quality improvement and provides families with information based on their responses.

Medicaid Policy Recommendations to Support Primary Care Practices in Preventing Child Welfare System Involvement

edicaid has a key policy and programmatic role to play in supporting primary care practices in taking the above steps to reduce child welfare involvement. As described on page 7, even though federal Medicaid regulations require states to provide medically necessary services for children under the EPSDT benefit, many children and families still do not access important preventive services. More work is needed to enhance widespread access to preventive services and ensure that such services are provided in a family-centered way. Following are four broad recommendations for state Medicaid agencies to help primary care practices address risk factors for child welfare involvement:



 Implement payment approaches that support comprehensive, equitable, family-centered care;



Leverage managed care contracts to prioritize primary care quality improvement for children;



3. Support primary care capacity and workforce development; and



4. Collaborate with child welfare, behavioral health, and other state agencies to align services, policy, and financing.

These policy recommendations are mutually reinforcing, and states can make the most impact by implementing more than one of these approaches. These recommendations align with and can help enhance access to EPSDT services.

Recommendation 1: Implement payment approaches that support comprehensive, equitable, family-centered care.

States can implement payment approaches that provide enhanced financial resources and incentives for primary care practices to cover services or personnel that are critical to improving care for children and their families. States can take a variety of coverage and payment approaches, such as expanding Medicaid benefits to include a wider range of service provider types (e.g., CHWs) and adapting value-based payment models to address children's health needs. State Medicaid agencies can expand payment related to team-based care approaches, early intervention behavioral health and relational health services for children and their caregivers, and services to address

families' social needs. ¹²⁷ This expanded service coverage can also potentially contribute to a broader array of services in the community, providing additional referral options for PCPs. Expanded service coverage may include:

• Enhancing benefits or allowing coverage of new provider types to support teambased care. States may expand benefits or enhance payment to support inclusion of primary care staff such as CHWs, patient navigators, peers, and care managers into care teams. States can consider offering enhanced rates to primary care practices to support prevention-focused, team-based care models. For example, in Maryland, as of January 2023, provider practices that implement HealthySteps are eligible to receive an additional \$15 per visit for children under age four. 128,129

As another example, state Medicaid agencies can cover services provided by CHWs. As of July 2022, more than half of all states cover CHW services through state plans, managed care arrangements, 1115 demonstration waivers, and the ACA Health Home option. New Jersey implemented health homes, which connect physical and behavioral health care through an intensive care coordination model, Care Management Organizations (CMO). CMOs are the designated health home agencies that provide care coordination and planning for children and their families, working within child family teams. The health home adds a wellness coach and nurse practitioner to facilitate access to a full range of integrated services. The team works with PCPs and other medical specialty providers to ensure whole health is addressed, including HRSN.

- Removing diagnosis requirements to improve access to behavioral health, relational health, and dyadic services. Increasing access to mental health services may help prevent child welfare system involvement. Many children and their families face barriers to receiving preventive or early behavioral health services because without a diagnosis the child does not meet medical necessity requirements and providers cannot be reimbursed. Several states are moving away from requiring a diagnosis to determine service eligibility. For example, New York updated its medical necessity requirements in 2023 to allow individual, group, and family psychotherapy services to be provided to Medicaid enrollees under 21 years of age without a specific behavioral health diagnosis. The goal of this policy is to support two-generational and preventive approaches to behavioral health care. Services to behavioral health care.
- Paying for services to identify and address social needs. States can use various
 Medicaid authorities to cover services to identify and address HRSN. While
 screening for HRSN can be covered through a range of existing authorities,
 addressing these needs under Medicaid is more limited. One key opportunity is for

states to leverage recent CMS guidance for use of Section 1115 demonstrations and "in lieu of" services to finance HRSN interventions. These services can also be provided by managed care organizations (MCOs) as value-added services that the MCO voluntarily provides and through quality improvement activities. Several of these 1115 demonstrations have been approved, including in Arkansas, Arizona, California, Massachusetts, and Oregon. For example, Arkansas is providing intensive supports, including enhanced housing and nutrition supports, through its Life HOMEs program. The state included young adults at risk of long-term poverty as a key population to receive services through this demonstration.

• Implementing value-based payment models (VBP) to support comprehensive and family-centered primary care and enhanced care coordination. VBP models move away from payment based on volume to payment tied to quality of care. 142 One example is the Integrated for Kids Model (InCK), a CMS Innovation Center model currently implemented regionally in Connecticut, Illinois, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, and Ohio. The InCK model aims to develop sustainable alternative payment models with goals to improve child health outcomes and reduce inpatient stays and unnecessary out-of-home care. Providers using the InCK model, which seeks to identify health risks and needs early, must integrate physical and behavioral health, as well as coordinate with other service providers to provide family-centered care. 143 Specific payment models vary by state and, in some cases, are still in development — example elements include tying payment to measures of preventive care and providing enhanced payment for additional care management services. 144

VBP models can also be an important mechanism for holding provider organizations accountable for advancing health equity. For example, Minnesota's Integrated Health Partnerships program ties a portion of provider's performance-based payment to reducing racial and ethnic disparities on certain quality measures. In developing VBP models, states should clearly define the types of care interventions they want to encourage and ensure that rate development is sufficient to sustain implementation. This may include considering how to ensure resources are sufficient to advance improvements in pediatric primary care needed by children and adolescents with varying levels of medical, social, and relational complexity. States may consider refining approaches for risk adjustment or tiering payments based on population characteristics. In the sufficient to advance improvements in pediatric primary care needed by children and adolescents with varying levels of medical, social, and relational complexity.

Recommendation 2: Leverage managed care contracts to prioritize primary care quality improvement for children.

In states with managed care, state Medicaid agencies can align contract requirements and incentives for MCOs to provide care that can help prevent child welfare system involvement. Developing a strong quality measurement approach that focuses on child and family well-being and advances health equity is one critical step to this effort. States already commonly track measures related to primary care access and prevention, such as those in the CMS Child Core Set. However, many children still fail to receive well-care visits and screenings recommended by clinical guidelines such as Bright Futures, and children enrolled in Medicaid are less likely to receive this care compared to children with commercial health insurance. Health insurance incentives for measures currently in use to more strongly incentivize quality improvement. States may also collaborate with families, providers, and researchers to address gaps in existing quality measures, including more explicitly measuring and incentivizing reductions in health disparities.

Additionally, interviewees and the literature indicate that quality measures used by states and MCOs often do not adequately capture processes and outcomes associated with comprehensive pediatric primary care. State Medicaid agencies can encourage the development and use of measures related to key domains targeted for improvement, including HRSN, integrated behavioral health care, relational health risks, and family engagement. 152,153 This approach can help identify gaps and target resources for families with higher needs. Some states have developed new measures to encourage MCOs to support child health quality improvement efforts. For example, in January 2022, Oregon implemented an incentive measure for its contracted coordinated care organizations (i.e., MCOs) focused on enhancing equitable access to cover social-emotional services for birth to five that span across primary care, integrated, and specialty behavioral health. The metric includes an intentional focus on improving services overall, but particularly for children with social complexity factors known to be associated with child welfare involvement. 154 This may also include measurement rates for children in the rapeutic foster care and residential treatment, which are performance measures for Ohio's specialized managed care plan for children and youth with complex behavioral health needs, OhioRISE (Ohio Resilience through Integrated Systems and Excellence). 155

Quality measurement also offers an opportunity to focus on health equity. As states enhance their data collection capabilities (e.g., such as for race, ethnicity, language, and disability), they may consider setting goals and tying financial incentives to reducing identified disparities in children's health measures. ¹⁵⁶ For example, Michigan rewards MCOs for statistically significant improvement in reducing disparities for Black and

Latino populations relating to several measures, including some focused on children's health. ¹⁵⁷ Michigan also monitors and publicly reports on quality measures stratified by factors such as race and language in annual Health Equity Reports. ¹⁵⁸ States may consider how to implement such approaches for measures related to risk factors for child maltreatment. Finally, family-reported data and measures that account for families' experiences of care are critical to informing improvements and often provide information that cannot be gleaned from administrative and services data sets. The Promoting Healthy Development Survey, described in **Exhibit 3** (page 15), is one tool that has been implemented by several state Medicaid agencies and health plans to inform quality improvement efforts. ¹⁵⁹

States can also include contract requirements and incentives for MCOs to support primary care practices in developing capacity to better support child and family wellbeing. Some states incentivize MCOs to contract with providers that use team-based care. ^{160, 161} For example, in Texas, children with disabilities are enrolled in a specialized Medicaid plan, Texas STAR Kids. In this plan's managed care contract, the state requires the MCO to ensure that enrolled children have access to team-based care through a health home. ¹⁶² States may also require that MCOs train staff in primary care settings to respond to implicit bias in care, address behavioral health needs, provide guidance related to building strong referral systems, and support implementation of new technologies within primary care practices that are informed by children and their families. ¹⁶³ For example, Mississippi's MCO contracts require that initial provider training include information on health equity, implicit bias, and cultural competency. ¹⁶⁴

Recommendation 3: Support primary care capacity and workforce development.

State Medicaid agencies can provide training, technical assistance, and peer-to-peer learning for providers to integrate behavioral health and HRSN services into their practices. For example, South Carolina's Medicaid agency, in partnership with the state's chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics, operates the *Quality Through Technology and Innovation in Pediatric Practice* program, which supports pediatric primary care quality improvement strategies and skill-building related to mental health. State Medicaid agencies can also consider workforce development initiatives that can help reduce unwarranted reporting to child abuse and neglect hotlines, including training on mandatory reporting requirements and implicit bias. New York's Medicaid agency requires that children's home- and community-based service providers receive mandated reporter training, which is provided by the state's child welfare agency. This training includes a focus on implicit bias to prevent unwarranted reports to CPS. 168

Additionally, states can invest in technology that helps improve primary care practices' capacity to coordinate and integrate care across systems. For example, Rhode Island dedicated funding to implement a statewide community referral platform to better coordinate care between the state's MCOs, health care providers, and community-based services. Such tools are an important strategy for helping to eliminate traditional health and social service silos and enabling PCPs to comprehensively address children's needs.

Workforce development initiatives can also focus on including community members as trusted partners in team-based care, such as CHWs and individuals who can provide peer support. For example, Massachusetts' 1115 demonstration includes funding to train and certify CHWs to increase the state's infrastructure to address HRSN. These initiatives can be especially impactful when they are focused on recruiting CHWs from the communities they serve, which may help reduce bias. California's Medicaid agency is funding the establishment of youth peer-to-peer mental health support programs as one component of its Children and Youth Behavioral Health Initiative. The serve initiative is the state of the serve in the serve in

Recommendation 4: Collaborate with child welfare, behavioral health, and other state agencies to align services, policy, and financing.

Child- and family-serving systems and the state agencies that support them, such as Medicaid, can operate in silos despite often serving the same populations. At the local level, a lack of coordination or integration among primary care, behavioral health care, and social service systems, as well as limited cultural and linguistic effectiveness of services, limits the capacity to comprehensively support children and their families. Collaborations across these systems at both the state and local level, in partnership with families, can help to better coordinate services for youth and families at risk of child welfare system involvement by addressing their health and HRSN.¹⁷² These collaborations can also be leveraged to support a broader, system-wide approach to better care for families.¹⁷³ The CAHMI Engagement in Action is an example of a framework that outlines key goals and provides an implementation roadmap that states can use to move toward a statewide, integrated system that better supports early childhood health.¹⁷⁴

Improved interagency collaboration at the state level, including identifying key partners, implementing communication processes, and developing shared vision and goals can help to equitably advance child health quality improvements and prevent families' involvement in the child welfare system. For example, in July 2022, Ohio implemented its specialized managed care plan for children and youth with complex behavioral health needs, OhioRISE. ^{175,176} The design and implementation of this program was led by the

state Medicaid agency in collaboration with an interagency council that included the state child welfare agency. This initiative centers around shared goals across several state agencies to improve services and outcomes for children with complex behavioral health needs and their families. Additionally, the state is partnering with community care management entities to provide intensive care coordination, including coordinating with the OhioRISE plan for covered services.¹⁷⁷

It is also important to identify alignment opportunities and challenges through activities like fiscal mapping and data analysis. This may include analysis of child welfare referrals and system outcomes to identify inequities. One key opportunity for states to consider is how to align policies and braid Medicaid and Title IV-E funding, given that both funding streams can cover a variety of services to prevent out-of-home placement. States can also consider braiding or blending funding streams to improve coordination of services across state agencies and avoid service cliffs. Another opportunity to support integrated care for children and their families is to integrate data across agencies through datasharing agreements, which can help identify families that may need additional services and supports, such as behavioral health needs and HRSN. More broadly, integrated data may also help establish stronger links between primary care interventions and their effect on preventing child welfare system involvement.

Collaboration across state agencies can also promote coordination across health care, behavioral health, and social service providers. For example, states may support crosssector education and training to build providers' understanding of each system's processes, which can help promote better connection to services for families. Additionally, state Medicaid and child welfare systems may consider standardized screening and assessment tools and common measures related to prevention and support for child well-being across Medicaid and child welfare systems. For example, in New Jersey, the Child and Adolescent Needs and Strengths (CANS) tool is used within the Department of Children and Families by the Children's System of Care and its system partners for populations with behavioral health needs, intellectual and/or developmental disabilities, and autism who may also have multi-system involvement with child welfare and juvenile justice. 178 Through New Jersey's implementation of health homes, the state modified their CANS assessment to include a medical module to ensure better coordination of care and promote physical and behavioral health integration. The use of such tools should be routinely revisited to address potential biases and identify inequities in referrals and outcomes for families.¹⁷⁹ These approaches can help streamline processes and align goals and incentives across systems.

Conclusion

rimary care can play an important role in preventing families' involvement in the child welfare system. Team-based care models, as well as tools and training, especially when focused on advancing equity, can support primary care practices in these efforts. State Medicaid policies are key to supporting primary care in implementing these strategies to address risk factors related to child maltreatment and strengthen child and family well-being. The recommendations described in this report outline actions that states and primary care practices can take to better support families' needs. These actions may become increasingly relevant, particularly given the need to address inequities, align services across health care and child welfare systems, maximize funding, and improve the quality of care for children and their families. States seeking to improve family well-being and prevent child welfare system involvement can consider implementing these recommendations, along with other policies and practices, through a cross-system approach that supports the sustainability of these efforts.

Appendix. Interviewee and Small Group Convening Participants

Interviewee and Small Group Convening Participant List

NAME	ORGANIZATION
Clare Anderson	Chapin Hall
David Bergman	Stanford Medicine Children's Health
Christina Bethell	Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative, Johns Hopkins University
Rhea Boyd	California Children's Trust
Ben Danielson	University of Washington School of Medicine
Howard Dubowitz	University of Maryland Medical System
Teresa Fuller	Main Street Pediatrics
Yuan He	Children's Hospital of Philadelphia
Carey Howard	Franciscan Children's
Kristin Kan	Ann & Robert H. Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago
Colleen Reuland	Oregon Pediatric Improvement Partnership
Katie Rollins	Chapin Hall
Robert Sege	Tufts University School of Medicine
Kate Shamszad	New Jersey Health Care Quality Institute
Kimá Joy Taylor	Anka Consulting
David Willis	Center for the Study of Social Policy

Emma Monahan, Chapin Hall, and Stefanie Arbutina, Children First PA, also reviewed and provided key feedback for this report.

ENDNOTES

- ¹ Child Welfare League of America. "Family First Prevention Services Act (H.R. 5456(P.L. 115-123)." Available at https://www.cwla.org/family-first-prevention-services-act/
- ² Child Welfare Capacity Building Collaborative. "Family First Prevention Services Act (FFPSA)." Available at: https://capacity.childwelfare.gov/about/cb-priorities/family-first-prevention
- ³ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth, and Families, Children's Bureau. "Adoption Foster Care Analysis Reporting System (AFCARS), FY 2012 2021." November 2022. Available at: https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/report/trends-foster-care-adoption
- ⁴ Child Welfare Information Gateway. "Child Welfare Practice to Address Racial Disproportionality and Disparity". U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau, April 2021. Available at: https://www.childwelfare.gov/resources/child-welfare-practice-address-racial-disproportionality-and-disparity
- ⁵ E. Minhoff and A. Citrin. *Systematically Neglected: How Racism Structures Public Systems to Produce Child Neglect.* Center for the Study of Social Policy, March 2022. Available at: https://cssp.org/resource/systemically-neglected/
- ⁶U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau. "Addressing Disproportionality, Disparity, and Equity Throughout Child Welfare." June 27, 2024. Available at: https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/focus-areas/equity
- ⁷ J.B Klika., J. Jones, T. Morgan, and M. Merrick. "Using the Core Components of a Public Health Framework to Create a Child and Family Well-being System: Example from a National Effort, Thriving Families, Safer Children". *Int. Journal on Child Malt.* **5**, 453–472 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s42448-022-00125-w
- 8 E. Minhoff and A. Citrin, op. cit.
- ⁹ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2024, September 26). Best practices for adhering to early and periodic screening, diagnostic, and treatment (EPSDT) requirements (SHO #24-005). U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/sho24005.pdf.
- ¹⁰ Child Welfare Information Gateway. "How the child welfare system works." U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau, 2020. Available at: https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/cpswork.pdf
- ¹¹ Child Welfare Information Gateway. "State Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Numbers." Available at: https://www.childwelfare.gov/state-child-abuse-and-neglect-reporting-numbers/?rt=795
- ¹² Child Welfare Information Gateway. "How the child welfare system works.", op. cit.
- ¹³ Child Welfare Information Gateway. "Mandatory Reporters of Child Abuse and Neglect." U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau, July 2019. Available at: https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/manda.pdf
- ¹⁴ Minhoff, et al., op. cit.
- 15 Ibid.
- ¹⁶ V. Sankaran and C. Church. "Easy Come, Easy Go: The Plight of Children Who Spend Less than Thirty Days in FosterCare." *University of Pennsylvania Journal of Law and Social Change, 19* (2016). Available at: https://scholarship.law.upenn.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1197&context=jlasc
- ¹⁷ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth, and Families, Children's Bureau. "The AFCARS Report." October 2021. Available at: https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cb/afcarsreport28.pdf
- ¹⁸ Public Welfare, 45 C.F.R. 1355.44(d)(6)(vi).
- ¹⁹ Child Welfare Information Gateway. "Definitions of Child Abuse and Neglect." U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau, 2022. Available at: https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubpdfs/define.pdf
- ²⁰ Minhoff, et al., op. cit.
- ²¹ J. Yordy. *Poverty and Child Neglect: How Did We Get it Wrong?* National Conference of State Legislatures, February 2023. Available at: https://www.ncsl.org/state-legislatures-news/details/poverty-and-child-neglect-how-did-we-get-it-wrong
- ²² The White House. "Fact Sheet: Biden -Harris Administration Actions to Keep Children and Families Safely Together and Supported." Available at: https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2024/07/30/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-actions-to-keep-children-and-families-safely-together-and-supported/

- ²³ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth, and Families, Children's Bureau, op. cit.
- ²⁴ K. Brewsaugh, L.P. Tucker, A. Loveless, and M. McDaniel. *Children Affected by Parental Substance Use*. Urban Institute, March 2023. Available at: https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/2023-03/Children%20Affected%20by%20Parental%20Substance%20Use.pdf
- ²⁵ B.M. Beech, C. Ford, R.J. Thorpe, M.A. Bruce, et al. "Poverty, Racism, and the Public Health Crisis in America. *Frontiers in Public Health* 9 (2021): 699049. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34552904/
- ²⁶ Child Welfare Information Gateway. "Child Welfare Practice to Address Racial Disproportionality and Disparity", op. cit.
- ²⁷ National Center on Substance Abuse and Child Welfare. Disproportionalities and Disparities in Child Welfare: A Supplement to Understanding Substance Use Disorders, Treatment, and Family Recovery: A Guide for Child Welfare Professionals. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration and Children's Bureau, Administration of Children, Youth, and Families. Available at: https://ncsacw.acf.hhs.gov/files/cw-tutorial-supplement-equity.pdf
- ²⁸ R.M. Powell, S.L. Parish, M. Mitra, M. Waterstone and S. Fournier. "Child welfare system inequities experienced by disabled parents: towards a conceptual framework." *Disability & Society* (2022), https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2022.2071675
- ²⁹ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau. "Addressing Disproportionality, Disparity, and Equity Throughout Child Welfare", op. cit.
- ³⁰ Y. Negussie, A. Geller, J.E. DeVoe (Eds.). *Vibrant and Healthy Kids: Aligning Science, Practice, and Policy to Advance Health Equity.* Washington (DC): National Academies Press, 2019, Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK551489/
- ³¹ K. Brykman, L. Scannelli Jacobs, and A. Casau. "Developing Financially Sustainable Child Health Transformation: Lessons from Primary Care Innovators". Center for Health Care Strategies, August 2023. Available at: https://www.chcs.org/media/Developing-Financially-Sustainable-Child-Health-Transformation.pdf
- ³² E.R. Wolf, C.J. Hochheimer, R.T. Sabo, J. DeVoe, et al. "Gaps in Well-Child Care Attendance Among Primary Care Clinics Serving Low-Income Families." *Pediatrics* 142, no.5(2018): e20174019. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-4019
- ³³ Child Welfare Information Gateway. "Mandatory Reporters of Child Abuse and Neglect." U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau, July 2019. Available at: https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/manda.pdf
- ³⁴ V.J. Palusci and A.S. Botash. "Race and Bias in Child Maltreatment Diagnosis and Reporting." *Pediatrics* 148, no.1 (2021): e2020049625. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-049625
- 35 Ibid.
- ³⁶ American Academy of Pediatrics. "Early Relational Health." Available at: https://www.aap.org/en/patient-care/early-childhood/early-relational-health/
- ³⁷ Center for the Study of Social Policy. "Advancing Early Relational Health." Available at: https://cssp.org/our-work/project/advancing-early-relational-health/; For more information, see Nurture Connection. Available at: https://nurtureconnection.org/
- ³⁸ A. Garner and M. Yogman. "Preventing Childhood Toxic Stress: Partnering With Families and Communities to Promote Relational Health." https://publications.aap.org/pediatrics/article/148/2/e2021052582/179805/Preventing-Childhood-Toxic-Stress-Partnering-With?autologincheck=redirected
- ³⁹ U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth, and Families, Children's Bureau. *Child Maltreatment 2021*. 2023. Available at: https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cb/cm2021.pdf
- ⁴⁰ Kaiser Family Foundation. "Health Insurance Coverage of Children 0-18." Available at: https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/children-0-18/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22;%22Location%22,%22sort%22;%22asc%22%7D
- ⁴¹ E. Williams and M. Musumeci. *Children with Special Health Care Needs: Coverage, Affordability, and HCBS Access.* Kaiser Family Foundation, October 4, 2021. Available at: https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/children-with-special-health-care-needs-coverage-affordability-and-hcbs-access/
- ⁴² M. Guth, S. Haldar, R. Rudowitz, and S. Artiga. *Medicaid and Racial Health Equity*. Kaiser Family Foundation, 2023. Available at: https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-and-racial-health-equity/
- ⁴³ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. "Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment." Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/benefits/early-and-periodic-screening-diagnostic-and-treatment/index.html
- ⁴⁴ N.A. Malhotra, A. Nevar, R. Yearby, L.C. Kleinman, et al. "Medicaid's EPSDT Benefit: An Opportunity to Improve Pediatric Screening for Social Determinants of Health." *Med Care Res Rev,* 78, no.2 (2019): 87-102. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1077558719874211
- ⁴⁵ S. Rosenbaum. "ACES and Child Health Policy: The Enduring Case for EPSDT." *Academic Pediatrics*, 17, no.7 Supplement (2017): S34-S35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2017.03.010

- ⁴⁶ National Academy for State Health Policy. *State Definitions of Medical Necessity under the Medicaid EPSDT Benefit.* April 23, 2021. Available at: https://nashp.org/state-tracker/state-definitions-of-medical-necessity-under-the-medicaid-epsdt-benefit/
- ⁴⁷ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. *Quality of Care for Children in Medicaid and CHIP: Findings from the 2020 Child Core Set: Chart Pack.* November 2021. Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/quality-of-care/downloads/2021-child-chart-pack.pdf
- ⁴⁸ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, op. cit.
- ⁴⁹ A.E. Austin, A.M. Lesak, and M.E. Shanahan. "Risk and protective factors for child maltreatment: A review." *Curr Epidemiol Rep* 7, no.4 (2020): 334-342. doi:10.1007/s40471-020-00252-3.; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. "Risk and Protective Factors." Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/childabuseandneglect/riskprotectivefactors.html
- ⁵⁰ National Center on Substance Abuse and Child Welfare. *Disproportionalities and Disparities in Child Welfare: A Supplement to Understanding Substance Use Disorders, Treatment, and Family Recovery: A Guide for Child Welfare Professionals*, op. cit.
- ⁵¹ J. Yordy. *Poverty and Child Neglect: How Did We Get it Wrong?*, op. cit.
- ⁵² S. Rivaux, J. James, K. Wittenstrom, D. Baumann, J. Sheets, et al. "The Intersection of Race, Poverty, and Risk: Understanding the Decision to Provide Services to Client and to Remove Children." *Child Welfare*,(2008):151-168. Available at: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18972936/. See also A. J. Dettlaff, S. L. Rivaux, D. J. Baumann, J. D. Fluke, J. R. Ryncraft, et al. "Disentangling substantiation: the influence of race, income, and risk on the substantiation decision in child welfare." *Child and Youth Services Review*(2011): 1630-1637. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0190740911001277
- ⁵³ M. Yang. "The effect of material hardship on child protective service involvement." *Child Abuse and Neglect* 41 (2015): 113-125. https://Doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.05.009
- ⁵⁴ H. Dubowitz. "The Safe Environment for Every Kid (SEEK) Model: Helping promote children's health, development, and safety: SEEK offers a practical model for enhancing pediatric primary care." *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38, no. 11 (2014): 1725-1733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.07.011
- ⁵⁵ H. Dubowitz, J. Kim, M.M. Black, C. Weisbart, et al. "Identifying children at high risk for a child maltreatment report." *Child Abuse & Neglect* 35, no. 2 (2011): 96-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2010.09.003
- ⁵⁶ E. Minoff, op. cit.
- ⁵⁷ S. Kwon, M.E. O'Neill, and C.C. Foster. "The Associations of Child's Clinical Conditions and Behavioral Problems with Parenting Stress among Families of Preschool-Aged Children: 2018-2019 National Survey of Child Health." *Children* 9, no. 2(2022): 241. https://doi.org/10.3390/children9020241
- ⁵⁸ American Academy of Pediatrics. "Assessment of Social Emotional Development and Protective Factors." Available at: https://www.aap.org/en/patient-care/early-childhood/early-relational-health/assessment-of-social-emotional-development-and-protective-factors/
- ⁵⁹ American Academy of Pediatrics. "Bright Futures Guidelines and Pocket Guide." Available at: https://www.aap.org/en/practice-management/bright-futures-materials-and-tools/bright-futures-guidelines-and-pocket-guide/
- ⁶⁰ Negussie., et al., op. cit.; InCK Marks. "Framework for Transforming Children's Health Care." 2020. Available at: https://www.inckmarks.org/GuidingFramework
- ⁶¹ H. Gears, A. Casau, L. Buck, and R. Yard. *Accelerating Child Health Care Transformation: Key Opportunities for Improving Pediatric Care.*Center for Health Care Strategies, August 2021. Available at: https://www.chcs.org/resource/accelerating-child-health-care-transformation-key-opportunities-for-improving-pediatric-care/
- ⁶² C.D. Bethell, M.R. Solloway, S. Guinosso, A. Srivastav, et al. "Prioritizing Possibilities for Child and Family Health: An Agenda to Address Adverse Childhood Experiences and Foster the Social and Emotional Roots of Well-being in Pediatrics." *Academic Pediatrics* 17, no. 7 (2017): S36-S50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2017.06.002
- ⁶³ C. Bethell, S. Kennedy, E. Martinez-Vidal, and L. Simpson. *Payment for Progress: Investing to Catalyze Child and Family Well-Being Using Personalized and Integrated Strategies to Address Social and Emotional Determinants of Health.* The Child * Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative and AcademyHealth, November 2018. Available at:
- https://academyhealth.org/sites/default/files/payment for progress fullreport nov2018.pdf
- ⁶⁴Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. "Engagement In Action Framework for a Statewide Integrated Early Childhood Health Systems." Accessed 4/28/23. Available at: https://www.cahmi.org/our-work-in-action/engagement-in-action/EnAct!Framework
- 65 Center for the Study of Social Policy. "Strengthening Families." Available at: https://cssp.org/our-work/project/strengthening-families/
- ⁶⁶ H. Kim, C. Chiang, E. Song, and L. Windsor. "Do county mental health, physical health, and care provider availability predict child maltreatment report rates?" *Child Abuse & Neglect* 134 (2022): 105880. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105880

- ⁶⁷ D. Crumley, R. Matulis, K. Brykman, B. Lee, et al. *Advancing Primary Care Innovation in Medicaid Managed Care: Conceptualizing and Designing Core Functions*. Center for Health Care Strategies, August 2022. Available at: https://www.chcs.org/media/PCI-Toolkit-Part-1-Update_081622.pdf#page=27
- ⁶⁸ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. "Healthy People 2030: Social Determinants of Health Literature Summaries." Available at: https://health.gov/healthypeople/priority-areas/social-determinants-health/literature-summaries
- ⁶⁹ W.F. Njoroge, C.A. Hostutler, B.S. Schwartz, and J.A. Mautone. "Integrated Behavioral Health in Pediatric Primary Care." *Focus* online (2017). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.150302
- ⁷⁰ A. Lavallee, L. Pang, J.M. Warmingham, G. Atwood, et al. "Early Dyadic Parent/Caregiver-Infant Interventions to Support Early Relational Health: A Meta-Analysis." *medRxiv* (2022). https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.10.29.22281681/
- ⁷¹ D.C. Ross, J. Guyer, A. Lam, and M. Toups. *Fostering Social and Emotional Health through Pediatric Primary Care: A Blueprint for Leveraging Medicaid and CHIP to Finance Change*. Center for the Study of Social Policy, June 2019. Available at: https://www.packard.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/CSSP-Medicaid-Blueprint-1.pdf
- ⁷² S.E. Wakeman, A. Bryant, and N. Harrison. "Redefining Child Protection: Addressing the Harms of Structural Racism and Punitive Approaches for Birthing People, Dyads, and Families Affected by Substance Use." *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 140, no.2 (2022): 167-173. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0000000000004786
- ⁷³ L.K. Leslie, C.J. Mehus, D. Hawkins, V.F Tait, et al. "Primary Health Care: Potential Home for Family-Focused Preventive Interventions." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 4, no.2 (2016): S106-S118. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.amepre.2016.05.014
- ⁷⁴ A. Garner, M. Yogman, and the Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, Section on Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics, Council on Early Childhood. "Preventing Childhood Toxic Stress: Partnering with Families and Communities to Promote Relational Health." *Pediatrics* 148, no.2 (2021): e2021052582. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2021-052582
- ⁷⁵ J. Flacks and R. Boynton-Jarrett. *Strengths-Based Approach to Screening Families for Health-Related Social Needs.* MLPB, Center for the Study of Social Policy, 2018. Available at:
- $\frac{https://www.ihconline.org/filesimages/Tools/Pop\%20Health/SIM/SDOH\%20Toolkit/3.\%20Strengths-Based-Approaches-Screening-Families-FINAL.pdf$
- ⁷⁶ Center for the Study of Social Policy, "About Strengthening Families and the Protective Factors Framework." Available at: https://cssp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/About-Strengthening-Families.pdf
- ⁷⁷ M. Trent, D.G. Dooley, J. Douge, R. Cavanaugh, et al. "The Impact of Racism on Child and Adolescent Health." *Pediatrics* 144, no. 2 (2019): e20191765. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-1765
- ⁷⁸ E. Minhoff et al., op. cit.
- ⁷⁹ H. Gears et al., op. cit.
- ⁸⁰ E. Monahan, A.M. Martinez-Cardoso, and A. Garza. *Promoting Health Equity for Latina/o Families*. Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago, March 2023. Available at: https://www.chapinhall.org/wp-content/uploads/JRF-Health-Equity FINAL.pdf
- ⁸¹ National Health Council. "The National Health Council Rubric to Capture the Patient Voice: A Guide to Incorporating the Patient Voice into the Health Ecosystem." 2019. Available at: https://www.nationalhealthcouncil.org/Patient-Engagement-Rubric.
- 82 Kuo et al., op. cit.
- 83 H. Gears et al., op. cit.
- 84 Center for Health Care Strategies. What is Trauma-Informed Care? Trauma-Informed Care Implementation Resource Center. Available at: https://www.traumainformedcare.chcs.org/what-is-trauma-informedcare/ care/#:~:text=Trauma%2Dinformed%20care%20seeks%20to,%2C%20procedures%2C%20and%20practices%3B%20and
- ⁸⁵ D. Kuo, A. Houtrow, P. Arango, K Kuhlthau, et al. "Family-Centered Care: Current Applications and Future Directions in Pediatric Health Care." *Maternal Child Health J.* 15, no. 2 (2012): 297-305. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs10995-011-0751-7
- 86 H. Gears et al., op. cit.
- ⁸⁷ D. Kuo, A. Houtrow, P. Arango, K Kuhlthau, et al. "Family-Centered Care: Current Applications and Future Directions in Pediatric Health Care." *Maternal Child Health J.* 15, no. 2 (2012): 297-305. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs10995-011-0751-7
- 88 B. Danielson. "Confronting Racism in Pediatric Care." Health Affairs 41, no. 11 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2022.01157
- 89 H. Gears et al., op. cit.
- ⁹⁰ HealthySteps. "HealthySteps Evidence Summary." Available at: https://www.healthysteps.org/resource/healthysteps-outcomes-summary/

- ⁹¹ Center for the Study of Social Policy. *Developmental Understanding & Legal Collaboration for Everyone*. March 2016. Available at: https://cssp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/DULCE-manual-March-2016.pdf
- 92 Ibid.
- ⁹³ M. Arbour, P. Fico, B. Floyd, S. Morton, et al. "Sustaining and scaling a clinic-based approach to address health-related social needs." *Front Health Serv* 3 (2023): 1040992. https://doi.org/10.3389%2Ffrhs.2023.1040992
- 94 Center for the Study of Social Policy, op. cit.
- ⁹⁵ N. Halfon, G.D. Stevens, K. Larson, and L.M. Olson. "Duration of a Well-Child Visit: Association with Content, Family-Centeredness, and Satisfaction." *Pediatrics* 128, no. 4 (2011): 657-664. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-0586
- ⁹⁶ K. Fong. "Getting Eyes in the Home: Child Protective Services Investigations and State Surveillance of Family Life." *American Sociological Review* 85, no. 4 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1177/000312242093846
- ⁹⁷ E. Minhoff et al., op. cit.
- 98 S.L. Johnson and V.L. Gunn. "Community Health Workers as a Component of the Health Care Team." *Pediatr Clin N Am* 62 (2015): 1313-1328, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2015.06.004
- ⁹⁹ A.L. Hartzler, L. Tuzzio, C. Hsu, and E.H. Wagner. "Roles and Functions of Community Health Workers in Primary Care." *Annals of Family Medicine*, 16, no.3 (2018): 240-245. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5951253/pdf/0160240.pdf
- ¹⁰⁰ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. *On the Front Lines of Health Equity: Community Health Workers.* April 2021. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/files/document/community-health-worker.pdf
- ¹⁰¹ Center for the Study of Social Policy, Developmental Understanding & Legal Collaboration for Everyone, op. cit.
- ¹⁰² HealthySteps. "HealthySteps Outcome Summary." Available at: https://www.healthysteps.org/resource/healthysteps-outcomes-summary/
- ¹⁰³ A. Garg, W. Cull, L. Olson, A.F. Boyd, S.G. Federico, B. Dreyer, A.D. Racine. "Screening and Referral for Low-Income Families' Social Determinants of Health by U.S. Pediatricians." *Academic Pediatrics* 19, no. 8 (2019): 875-883. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2019.05.125
- ¹⁰⁴ Flacks et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁵H. Gears, et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁰⁶ E.D. Butler, A.U. Morgan, and S. Kangovi. "Screening for Unmet Social Needs: Patient Engagement or Alienation?" *NEJM Catalyst* Commentary (July 2020). https://catalyst.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/CAT.19.1037
- ¹⁰⁷ A. Garg, R. Boynton-Jarrett, and P.H. Dworkin. "Avoiding the Unintended Consequences of Screening for Social Determinants of Health." *JAMA*, published online June 27, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.9282
- ¹⁰⁸ H. Dubowitz. "The Safe Environment for Every Kid (SEEK) Model: Helping promote children's health, development, and safety: SEEK offers a practical model for enhancing pediatric primary care." *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38, no. 11 (2014): 1725-1733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.07.011
- ¹⁰⁹ V.J. Palusci and A.S. Botash. "Race and Bias in Child Maltreatment Diagnosis and Reporting." *Pediatrics* 148, no.1 (July 2021): e2020049625. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-049625
- 110 Schleifer, et al., op. cit.
- ¹¹¹ Y. Cartier, C. Fichtenberg, and L. Gottlieb. *Community Resource Referral Platforms: A Guide for Health Care Organizations*. Social Interventions Research & Evaluation Network. April 2019. Available at:
- https://sirenetwork.ucsf.edu/sites/default/files/wysiwyg/Community-Resource-Referral-Platforms-Guide.pdf
- ¹¹² Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative, op. cit.
- ¹¹³ C. Bethell, C. Reuland, K. McCracken, S. Simmons, et al. *Patient Centered Quality Improvement of Well-Child Care*. Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative, 2012. Available at: https://implement.cycleofengagement.org/docs/PHDSPCQIFinalReport_2012.pdf
- 114 Cartier et al., op. cit.
- ¹¹⁵ Shared plans of care are a key component of high-quality health care for children with special health care needs. These tools provide comprehensive information to guide care for children across the various services, providers, and systems. See: Lucile Packard Foundation for Children's Health. "Achieving a Shared Plan of Care with Children and Youth with Special Health Care Needs." April 25, 2014. Available at: https://www.lpfch.org/publication/achieving-shared-plan-care-children-and-youth-special-health-care-needs
- ¹¹⁶ CIE San Diego. "What is a CIE?" Available at: https://ciesandiego.org/what-is-cie/

- ¹¹⁷ Health Leads. "Bringing Light & Heat: A Health Equity Guide for Transformation and Accountability." July 14, 202. Available at: https://healthleadsusa.org/communications-center/past-events/bringing-light-heat-a-health-equity-guide-for-healthcare-transformation-and-accountability/
- ¹¹⁸ Institute for Healthcare Improvement. "Tool: How to Know Where to Go on Health Equity." Available at: https://www.ihi.org/insights/tool-how-know-where-go-health-equity
- ¹¹⁹ H. Dubowitz. "The Safe Environment for Every Kid (SEEK) Model: Helping promote children's health, development, and safety: SEEK offers a practical model for enhancing pediatric primary care." *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38, no. 11 (2014): 1725-1733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.07.011
- ¹²⁰ The SEEK Project. "The SEEK Approach". Available at: https://seekwellbeing.org/the-seek-approach/
- 121 Child & Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. "Cycle of Engagement." Available at: https://implement.cycleofengagement.org/
- 122 Child & Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. "Well Visit Planner." Available at: https://www.wellvisitplanner.org/
- ¹²³ Child & Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. "The Cycle of Engagement Well Visit Planner Approach to Care Your Families, Your Partners." Available at: https://cahmi.org/docs/default-source/coe-documents/coe-provider-2-pager-220302---compressed.pdf?sfvrsn=e56dabd8 2
- ¹²⁴ Child & Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. "The Online Promoting Healthy Development Survey." Available at: https://www.onlinephds.org/About
- ¹²⁵ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. *Quality of Care for Children in Medicaid and CHIP: Findings from the 2020 Child Core Set: Chart Pack.* November 2021. Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/quality-of-care/downloads/2021-child-chart-pack.pdf
- ¹²⁶ U.S. Government Accountability Office. Medicaid: Additional CMS Data and Oversight Needed to Help Ensure Children Receive Recommended Screenings. GAO-19-481. Aug 16, 2019. Available at: https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-19-481
- ¹²⁷ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, op. cit.
- ¹²⁸ Maryland Department of Health. "Maryland Medicaid Maternal and Child Health Programs: Medicaid HealthySteps Provider Information." Available at: https://health.maryland.gov/mmcp/medicaid-mch-initiatives/Pages/HealthySteps-Providers.aspx
- ¹²⁹ Maryland Department of Health. "Coverage of CenteringPregnancy and HealthySteps Services." Maryland Medical Assistance Program, MCO Transmittal No. 162, Physician Transmittal No. 156, Nurse Practitioner Transmittal No. 27, Obstetrician Transmittal No. 5. December 16, 2022. Available at: https://health.maryland.gov/mmcp/medicaid-mch-initiatives/Documents/CenteringPregnancy/PT%2030-23%20Coverage%20of%20CenteringPregnancy%20and%20HealthySteps%20Services.pdf
- ¹³⁰ S. Haldar and E. Hinton. *State Policies for Expanding Medicaid Coverage of Community Health Worker (CHW) Services*. Kaiser Family Foundation, January 23, 2023. Available at: https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/state-policies-for-expanding-medicaid-coverage-of-community-health-worker-chw-services/
- ¹³¹ New Jersey Department of Human Services, New Jersey SPA #14-006: Health Home State Plan Amendment, 12-13. Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/State-resource-center/Medicaid-State-Plan-Amendments/Downloads/NJ/NJ-14-0006.pdf
- ¹³² H. Kim, C. Chiang, E. Song, and L. Windsor. "Do county mental health, physical health, and care provider availability predict child maltreatment report rates?" *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 134 (2022): 105880. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105880
- ¹³³ U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Center for Medicaid Services, Center for Medicaid & CHIP Services. "Leveraging Medicaid, CHIP, and Other Federal Programs in the Delivery of Behavioral Health Services for Children and Youth." CMCS Informational Bulletin, August 18, 2022. Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/bhccib08182022.pdf
- ¹³⁴ N. West-Bey, S. Sethi, and P. Shortsleeves. *Policy for Transformed Lives: Barriers to Meeting the Mental Health Needs of Young Adults.*Center for Law and Social Policy, November 2018. Available at: https://www.clasp.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/YA-MH-Scan_Policy-for-Transformed-Lives Barriers.pdf
- ¹³⁵ S. Smith, M. R. Granja, E. Wright Burak, K. Johnson, and D. Ferguson. *Medicaid Policies to Help Young Children Access Key Infant-Early Childhood Mental Health Services: Results from a 50-State Survey.* National Center for Children in Poverty. June 2030. Available at: https://www.nccp.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/NCCP-Medicaid-Brief 8.21.23-FINAL.pdf
- ¹³⁶ New York State Department of Health. "Medicaid Eligibility Changes Effective January 1, 2023." New York State Department of Health Medicaid Update, 39, no.2 (January 2023). Available at:
- $\underline{\text{https://www.health.ny.gov/health_care/medicaid/program/update/2023/docs/mu_no2_jan23_pr.pdf}$
- ¹³⁷ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Office of Minority Health. "Utilization of Z Codes for Social Determinants of Health among Medicare Fee-for-Service Beneficiaries, 2019." Data Highlight, no. 24 (September 2021). Available at: https://www.cms.gov/files/document/z-codes-data-highlight.pdf

- ¹³⁸ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. "All-State Medicaid and CHIP Call." Presentation, December 6, 2022. Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/resources-for-states/downloads/covid19allstatecall12062022.pdf
- 139 D. Crumley and A. Bank. Financing Approaches to Address Social Determinants of Health via Medicaid Managed Care: A 12-State Review. Center for Health Care Strategies, Association for Community Affiliated Plans, February 2023. Available at: https://www.chcs.org/media/Financing-Approaches-to-Address-Health-Related-Social-Needs-via-Medicaid-Managed-Care.docx.pdf
 140 Ibid.
- ¹⁴¹ Arkansas Department of Human Services. "Life360." Available at: https://humanservices.arkansas.gov/divisions-shared-services/medical-services/healthcare-programs/arhome/life360/
- ¹⁴² Health Care Payment Learning & Action Network. "APM Framework." 2017. Available at: https://hcp-lan.org/workproducts/apm-refresh-whitepaper-final.pdf
- ¹⁴³ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. "Integrated Care for Kids (InCK) Model". Available at: https://www.cms.gov/priorities/innovation/innovation-models/integrated-care-for-kids-model
- ¹⁴⁴ Abt Associates Inc. "Integrated Care for Kids Model Evaluation: Report 2". 2024. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/priorities/innovation/innovation-models/integrated-care-for-kids-model
- ¹⁴⁵ E.H. Allen and C. Willis. *Can Medicaid Payment and Purchasing Strategies Advance Health Equity?* Urban Institute, December 2023. Available at: https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/2023-
- $\underline{12/Can\%20 Medicaid\%20 Payment\%20 and\%20 Purchasing\%20 Strategies\%20 Advance\%20 Health\%20 Equity.pdf$
- ¹⁴⁶ C.D. Bethell, A.S. Garner, N. Gombojav, C. Blacwell, et al. "Social and Relational Health Risks and Common Mental Health Problems Among US Children: The Mitigating Role of Family Resilience and Connection to Promote Positive Socioemotional and School-Related Outcomes." *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am*, 31, no.1 (2022): 45-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2021.08.001
- ¹⁴⁷ Child & Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. *The Engagement in Action Framework: Attachment E: A Starting Point Policy Playbook to Advance the Engagement In Action (EnAct!) Framework.* February 2023. Available at: <a href="https://cahmi.org/docs/default-source/ms-enact-documents/attachment-e-e
- ¹⁴⁸ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. "Children's Health Care Quality Measures." Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/quality-of-care/performance-measurement/adult-and-child-health-care-quality-measures/childrens-health-care-quality-measures/index.html
- ¹⁴⁹ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. "Well-Child Visits on the Rise, But Disturbing Gaps Remain for Underserved Populations." *AHRQ News Now,* Issue No. 828 (August 23, 2022). Available at: https://www.ahrq.gov/news/newsletters/e-newsletter/828.html
- ¹⁵⁰ J.W. Thompson, K.W. Ryan, and S.D. Pinidiya. "Quality of Care for Children in Commercial and Medicaid Managed Care." *JAMA*, 290, no.11 (2003). https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/197300
- ¹⁵¹ National Committee for Quality Assurance. "Child and Adolescent Well-Care Visits (W30, WCV)." Available at: https://www.ncqa.org/hedis/measures/child-and-adolescent-well-care-visits/
- 152 H. Gears et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁵³ D. Cohen Ross, J. Guyer, A. Lam, and M. Toups. *Fostering Social and Emotional Health through Pediatric Primary Care: A Blueprint for Leveraging Medicaid and CHIP to Finance Change*. Center for the Study of Social Policy, Pediatrics Supporting Parents, Manatt, June 2019. Available at: https://www.manatt.com/getmedia/4e26309d-1cc7-4289-92a6-c8f67b27e217/CSSP-Medicaid-Blueprint
- ¹⁵⁴ Oregon Health Authority Transformation Center. "System-level social-emotional health metric: technical assistance." Oregon Health Authority. Available at: https://www.oregon.gov/oha/HPA/dsi-tc/Pages/Social-Emotional-Health-Metric.aspx
- ¹⁵⁵ Ohio Department of Medicaid. "Ohio Resilience through Integrated System and Excellence (OhioRISE) Plan Provider Agreement." Available at: https://managedcare.medicaid.ohio.gov/wps/wcm/connect/gov/700e436c-369c-49f9-a494-40bd79d38443/OhioRISE+Provider+Agreement_6-29-21.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=nIXTC-X
- ¹⁵⁶ State Health & Value Strategies. *Collection of Race, Ethnicity, Language (REL) Data on Medicaid Applications*. November 2022. Available at: https://www.shvs.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/SHVS_Collection-of-Race-Ethnicity-Language-REL-Data-on-Medicaid-Applications.pdf
- ¹⁵⁶ State of Michigan, Central Procurement Services, Department of Technology, Management, and Budget. "Comprehensive Health Care Program DHHS." January 1, 2016. Available at: https://www.michigan.gov/dtmb/- /media/Project/Websites/dtmb/Procurement/Contracts/007/6600028.pdf
- ¹⁵⁸ Michigan Health and Human Services. "Medicaid Health Equity Reports." Available at: https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/assistance-programs/medicaid/medicaid-health-equity-reports

- ¹⁵⁹ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. *Established Child Health Care Quality Measures—Child and Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative (CAHMI): Promoting Healthy Development Survey (PHDS).* November 2017. Available at: https://www.ahrq.gov/patient-safety/quality-resources/tools/chtoolbx/measures/measure-6.html#hedisusers
- ¹⁶⁰ D. Cohen Ross et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁶¹ Advancing Primary Care Innovation in Medicaid Managed Care: Conceptualizing and Designing Core Functions.

 Center for Health Care Strategies, August 2022. Available at: https://www.chcs.org/resource/advancing-primary-care-innovation-in-medicaid-managed-care-a-toolkit-for-states/
- ¹⁶² Texas Health and Human Services, Health and Human Services Commission. "Attachment A STAR Kids Contract Terms and Conditions." Contractual Document Version 1.18, March 1, 2023. Available at: https://www.hhs.texas.gov/sites/default/files/documents/services/health/medicaid-chip/programs/contracts/star-kids-contract.pdf
- ¹⁶³ A. Thomas and E. Ferguson. "NCCARE360: Building Healthier Communities Through Collaboration." *NC Medical Journal*, 80, no.5 (2019). Available at: https://ncmedicaljournal.com/article/55100-nccare360-building-healthier-communities-through-collaboration
- ¹⁶⁴ State Health & Value Strategies. *Compendium of Medicaid Managed Care Contracting Strategies to Promote Health Equity.* Prepared by Bailit Health, April 2023. Available at: https://www.shvs.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/Compendium-of-Medicaid-Managed-Care-Contracting-Strategies-to-Promote-Health-Equity_April-2023.pdf
- ¹⁶⁵ South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. "Pediatric Quality Improvement Program." Available at: https://msp.scdhhs.gov/qtip/
- ¹⁶⁶ Cohen Ross et al., op. cit.
- ¹⁶⁷ New York State Department of Health, Children's Health and Behavioral Health Medicaid System Transformation. "Children's Home and Community Based Services Manual." Office of Mental Health, Office of Addiction Services and Supports, Office of Children and Family Services, Office for People with Developmental Disabilities, March 2023. Available at: https://www.health.ny.gov/health_care/medicaid/redesign/behavioral_health/children/docs/hcbs_manual.pdf
- ¹⁶⁸ New York State Office of Children and Family Services. "New York State Office of Children and Family Services Launches Updated Mandated Reporter Training." February 15, 2023. Available at: https://ocfs.ny.gov/main/news/article.php?idx=2456
- ¹⁶⁹ Rhode Island Executive Office of Health and Human Services. "Rhode Island Prioritizes Social Determinants of Health with Statewide Rollout." Available at: https://eohhs.ri.gov/sites/g/files/xkgbur226/files/xkgbur226/files/2021-06/Unite%20Us%20Rl%20Community%20Partner%20Email.pdf
- ¹⁷⁰ Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Center for Medicaid & CHIP Services. "MassHealth Medicaid and CHIP Section 1115 Demonstration." Available at: https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/section-1115-demonstrations/downloads/ma-masshealth-ca-11072022.pdf
- ¹⁷¹ California Health and Human Services, Children and Youth Behavioral Health Initiative. "January 2023 Progress Report." Available at: https://www.chhs.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/CYBHI-January-2023-Progress-Report-Final- -ADA.pdf
- ¹⁷² C. Lo and Y.W. Cho. "Community-Based Interventions to Reduce Child Maltreatment." *Research on Social Work Practice*, 31, no.6 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731520986968
- ¹⁷³ Child & Adolescent Health Measurement Initiative. "Engagement in Action (EnAct!) Framework." Available at: https://www.cahmi.org/our-work-in-action/engagement-in-action/EnAct!Framework
- 174 Ibid.
- ¹⁷⁵ Ohio Medicaid Managed Care. "OhioRISE (Resilience through Integrated Systems and Excellence)." Available at: https://managedcare.medicaid.ohio.gov/managed-care/ohiorise
- ¹⁷⁶ National Public Radio Illinois. "States look to New Jersey as model for child mental health interventions." NPR, March 21, 2023. Available at: https://www.nprillinois.org/2023-03-21/states-look-to-new-jersey-as-model-for-child-mental-health-interventions
- ¹⁷⁷ Ohio Medicaid Managed Care. "OhioRISE Care Management Entities." Available at: <a href="https://managedcare.medicaid.ohio.gov/managedcare/managedcare/managedcare.medicaid.ohio.gov/managedcare/managedcare/managedcare.medicaid.ohio.gov/managedcare/managedcare.medicaid.ohio.gov/managedcare/managedcare.medicaid.ohio.gov/managedcare.
- ¹⁷⁸ New Jersey Department of Children and Families, Children's System of Care. "Children's System of Care Strengths and Needs Assessment Manual." 2016. Available at: https://www.ni.gov/dcf/about/divisions/dcsc/Strengths.and.Needs.Assessment.Tool.pdf
- ¹⁷⁹ A. Weber, B. Miskle, A. Lynch, S. Arndt, et al." Substance Use in Pregnancy: Identifying Stigma and Improving Care." *Substance Abuse and Rehabilitation* 12 (2021): 105-121. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.2147/SAR.S319180